
 
 
 

C I T Y   O F   Y O R K   C O U N C I L 
S U M M O N S 

 
All Councillors, relevant Council Officers and other interested parties and 
residents are formally invited to attend a Special Meeting of the City of 
York Council at The Citadel, Gillygate, York, YO31 7EA to consider 
the business contained in this agenda on the following date and time  
 
 
 

Thursday, 17 May 2018 at 6.30 pm 
 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

    

The Citadel 

 

S Stoltz, 
Director 
of Public 
Health 

M Weastell 
Chief 
Executive  

 

B Boyce,  
Lord Mayor 

D Steel, 
Head of 
Civic & 
Democratic 
Services 

A Docherty, 
AD Legal & 
Governance 

N Ferris,  
Corporate 
Director of 
Economy & 
Place 

 

I Floyd, Deputy Chief 
Exec/ Director of 
Customer & Corporate 
Services 

M Farran, 
Corporate 
Director of 
Health, 
Housing and 
Adult Social 
Care     

Democracy 
Officer 

J Stonehouse, 
Corporate 
Director of 
Children, 
Education & 
Communities 

 

    Cllr A 
Waller 

Cllr C 
Runciman 

Cllr H  
Douglas 

Cllr K 
Aspden 

Cllr I 
Gillies 

Cllr K 
Myers 

Cllr N 
Ayre 

Cllr P 
Dew 

 

Cllr S 
Rawlings 

Cllr J 
Galvin 

 

 

 

 
Cllr J 
Gates 

Cllr T 
Richardson 

Cllr  S 
Lisle 

Cllr C 
Steward 

Cllr J 
Brooks 

Cllr P 
Doughty 

Cllr M 
Warters 

Cllr J 
Hayes 

 

 

 

 

 

Cllr S 
Mercer 

Cllr D 
Carr 

Cllr A 
Reid 

Cllr K 
Orrell 

Cllr I  
Cuthbertson 

Cllr C  
Cullwick 

Cllr S 
Fenton 

Cllr S 
Hunter 

Cllr S 
Jackson  

Cllr A 
Mason 

 

   

    

 

Cllr J 
Looker 

Cllr D 
Williams 

Cllr D 
Myers 

Cllr F 
Derbyshire 

Cllr H 
Shepherd 

Cllr N 
Barnes 

Cllr M 
Cannon 

Cllr S 
Barnes 

Cllr D 
Craghill 

Cllr A 
D’Agorne 

Cllr J 
Crawshaw 

Cllr J 
Flinders 

Cllr M 
Pavlovic 

Cllr T 
Funnell 

Cllr L 
Kramm 

Cllr D 
Taylor 

Cllr M 
Wells 

Cllr K 
Taylor 

 

Palantypists 



 

A G E N D A 
 
 
1. Declarations of Interest   
 At this point, Members are asked to declare: 

 any personal interests not included on the Register of 
Interests  

 any prejudicial interests or  

 any disclosable pecuniary interests 
which they may have in respect of business on this agenda. 
 

2. Public Participation   
 At this point in the meeting, any member of the public who has 

registered to address the Council, or to ask a Member of the 
Council a question, on a matter directly relevant to the business 
of the meeting, may do so.  The deadline for registering is 
5:00pm on Wednesday 16 May 2018. 
 
To register to speak please contact the Democracy Officer for the 
meeting, on the details at the foot of the agenda. 
 

WEBCASTING NOTICE 
 

Please note: this meeting may be filmed for live or 
subsequent broadcast via the internet - at the start of the 
meeting the Lord Mayor will confirm if all or part of the 
meeting is being filmed. 
 
You should be aware that the Council is a Data Controller 
under the Data Protection Act. Data collected during this 
webcast will be retained in accordance with the Council’s 
published policy. 
 
Public seating areas will not be filmed by the Council. 
 
The Council’s protocol on Webcasting, Filming & Recording of 
Meetings ensures that these practices are carried out in a 
manner both respectful to the conduct of the meeting and all 
those present.  It can be viewed at 
http://www.york.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/11406/protocol_f
or_webcasting_filming_and_recording_of_council_meetings_201
60809.pdf 

http://www.york.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/11406/protocol_for_webcasting_filming_and_recording_of_council_meetings_20160809.pdf
http://www.york.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/11406/protocol_for_webcasting_filming_and_recording_of_council_meetings_20160809.pdf
http://www.york.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/11406/protocol_for_webcasting_filming_and_recording_of_council_meetings_20160809.pdf


 

 
3. City of York Local Plan - Submission (Pages 1 - 34) 
 To report to Members the responses received to the Publication 

Draft Local Plan Consultation (Regulation 19) and to ask that Full 

Council approve the Submission Draft (the Publication Draft) 

together with the Schedule of Minor Modifications and 

representations received thereon for submission for Examination. 

 
Democracy Officer 
 
Laura Clark  
Contact details:  

 Telephone – (01904) 552207  

 Email Laura.Clark@york.gov.uk 
 
 

For more information about any of the following please contact 
the Democracy Officer responsible for servicing this meeting: 
 

 Registering to speak 

 Business of the meeting 

 Any special arrangements 

 Copies of reports and 

 For receiving reports in other formats 
 

Contact details are set out above. 
 

 

mailto:Laura.Clark@york.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

 

  

 
   

 

Council 

 

         17 May 2018 
 

Report of the Corporate Director - Economy and Place   

City of York Local Plan - Submission 

Summary 
 

1. The purpose of the report is to report to Members the responses 

received to the Publication Draft Local Plan Consultation (Regulation 19) 

and to ask that Full Council approve the Submission Draft (the 

Publication Draft) together with the Schedule of Minor Modifications and 

representations received thereon for submission for Examination. 

 

2. At Local Plan Working Group (LPWG) on the 2nd May Members 

considered a report on the Local Plan Submission. Officers gave a 

verbal update at the meeting which advised that recomendation (ii) in 

paragraph 2 of the report be amended to include reference to the 

Schedule of minor modifications as attached as Annex G so that it read: 

Recommend to Full Council that the Submission Draft Local Plan 

(Publication Draft) as attached at Annex A to this report, the Policies 

Map as attached at Annex B to this report and the Schedule of minor 

modifications as attached as Annex G to this report be approved for 

submission to the Secretary of State for examination. 

Members were also advised that paragraph 71 of the report should be 

amended to replace the reference to Annex D with Annex G and to 

remove the reference to Option 1 so that it read:  

“If it is considered that, having taken into consideration the 

representations made, the appropriate option is to approve the 

Submission Version of the Local Plan (Annex A), the Policies Map 

(Annex B) and the Schedule of minor modifications (Annex G) and allow 

Page 1 Agenda Item 3



 
 

 
 

it to be submitted for examination as per recomendation (ii), this would 

allow the Council to meet the required published timetable for 

submission by 31 May 2018.” 

3.  Local Plan Working Group resolved:   

  
(a) That officers be asked to investigate and provide clarification to the 

Executive with regard to:  
 

(i) whether it was possible to add public houses to the list of 
other community facilities at this stage in the local plan 
process. 

 
(ii) the process for publishing decisions made by officers in 

relation to agreeing any further or revised responses or 
proposed changes during the examination process, as per 
recommendation (b) (v) below.  

 
(b) That the Local Plan Working Group recommends to Executive to: 

 
(i) Consider the representations received on the Publication 

Draft Local Plan (Regulation 19) 

Reason: to consider whether to recommend to Full Council 
to progress to submission of the Plan for examination. 

(ii) Recommend to Full Council that the Submission Draft Local 
Plan (Publication Draft) as attached at Annex A to this report, 
the Policies Map as attached at Annex B to this report and 
the Schedule of minor modifications as attached as Annex G 
to this report be approved for submission to the Secretary of 
State for examination.  

Reason: So that an NPPF compliant Local Plan can be 
progressed in accordance with the Council’s Local 
Development Scheme. 

(iii) Following decisions on the matters referred to in (i) and (ii) 
above, authority be delegated to the Corporate Director of 
Economy and Place in consultation with the Leader and 
Executive Member for Economic Development and 
Community Engagement to make non-substantive editorial 

Page 2



 
 

 
 

changes to the Submission Draft and other supporting 
documents proposed to be submitted alongside the plan. 

Reason: So that an NPPF compliant Local Plan can be 
progressed 

(iv) The Corporate Director of Economy and Place be authorised 
to ask the examining Inspector to recommend modifications 
where necessary under Section 20(7C)1 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

Reason: So that an NPPF compliant Local Plan can be 
progressed. 

(v) The Corporate Director of Economy and Place in 
consultation with the Leader and the Executive Member for 
Economic Development and Community Engagement be 
authorised to agree any further or revised responses or 
proposed changes during the examination process, prior to 
consultation and a final decision on adoption.  

Reason: So that an NPPF compliant Local Plan can be 
progressed. 

 

4. A report on Local Plan Submission was taken to Executive on 8th May 

2018. At the meeting officers gave an update in relation to the request of 

LPWG detailed at paragraph 3 of this report. On the issue of pub 

protection officers confirmed that they had considered the 

representations submitted by Campaign for Real Ale (CAMRA) through 

the recent consultations and LPWG. For the purposes of clarity, officers 

asked Executive to consider adding Public Houses to the definition of 

community facilities within the supporting text to policy HW1 (Protecting 

Existing Facilities) in order to fully reflect the National Planning Policy 

Framework (NPPF). This suggested text was circulated to Members of 

the Executive at the meeting to be added to Annex G to the report 

(Schedule of Minor Modifications). 

                                                           
1 (7C)If asked to do so by the local planning authority, the person appointed to carry out the examination must 

recommend modifications of the document that would make it one that— 

(a)satisfies the requirements mentioned in subsection (5)(a), and 

(b)is sound.” 

 

Page 3



 
 

 
 

 

5. Officers confirmed at the meeting that the other detailed changes put 

forward by CAMRA would represent a more significant change which 

would not be considered ‘minor modifications’ as it may alter the extent 

or substance of consultation responses already received on policy HW1. 

Officers recommended that these changes are not proposed as 

modifications to the Plan at this stage but that the Inspector instead 

consider the representation in full alongside others submitted during the 

Regulation 19 consultation. 

 

6. With regards the clarification of delegated powers in relation to 

recommendation v of the report to Executive,  officers confirmed that 

prior to and during examination the Inspector may require additional 

information to clarify policies or site allocations in the Plan or to make 

amendments to policies which he/she judge need to be changed to 

make them ‘sound’. The production of any response needs to be dealt 

with within set timeframes given by the Inspector and it is important that 

the Council is able to respond in an efficient and timely manner. All 

decisions made by the Director in consultation with the Leader and the 

Executive Member for Economic Development and Community 

Engagement will be published as key decisions. Members will therefore 

be able to view and call-in the decision for scrutiny, if considered 

appropriate to do so. It may be appropriate for the Director to 

recommend that some modifications to the plan are considered by 

Executive prior to their approval. 

7. After a full debate, during which Executive Members expressed their 

support for the Plan and the need for York to set its own Local Plan for 

the good of the city, it was  

Resolved: (i) That the representations received on the Publication 

Draft Local Plan (Regulation 19) be noted. 

 (ii) That the minor modifications to Annex G circulated at 

the meeting, to include public houses within the definition of 

‘community facilities’ within paragraph 6.5 of the supporting 

text to policy HW1 (Protecting Existing Facilities) in Annex A, 

be approved. 

Page 4



 
 

 
 

Recommended: (i)That Council approve the Submission Draft Local 

Plan (Publication Draft) as attached at Annex A to this report, 

the Policies Map as attached at Annex B to this report and 

the Schedule of minor modifications as attached as Annex G 

to this report  for submission to the Secretary of State for 

examination. 

Reason: So that an NPPF compliant Local Plan can be progressed in 

accordance with the council’s Local Development Scheme. 

 (ii) That authority be delegated to the Director of Economy 

and Place, in consultation with the Executive Leader and the 

Executive Member for Economic Development and 

Community Engagement, to make non-substantive editorial 

changes to the Submission Draft and other supporting 

document submitted alongside the plan. 

Reason: So that an NPPF compliant Local Plan can be progressed. 

 (iii) That the Director of Economy and Place be authorised 

to ask the examining Inspector to recommend modifications 

where necessary under Section 20(7C) of the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

Reason: So that an NPPF compliant Local Plan can be progressed. 

 (iv) That the Director of Economy and Place, in 

consultation with the Executive Leader and the Executive 

Member for Economic Development and Community 

Engagement, be authorised to agree any further or revised 

responses or proposed changes during the examination 

process, prior to consultation and a final decision on 

adoption. 

Reason: So that an NPPF compliant Local Plan can be progressed. 

 

 

 

 

Page 5



 
 

 
 

Background 
 

8. Officers produced a publication draft Local Plan in Autumn 2014. This 

process, however, was halted by Council resolution on the 9th October 

2014. Following the Local Government Elections in May 2015 the 

agreement between the Conservative and Liberal Democrat Groups, to 

establish a joint administration for City of York Council from May 21st 

2015 states that: 

 ‘We will prepare an evidence-based Local Plan which delivers much 

needed housing whilst focusing development on brownfield land and 

taking all practical steps to protect the Green Belt and the character of 

York.’ 

 

9. Following approval of the Executive on 30th June 2016 a Preferred Sites 

Consultation (PSC) was undertaken. It began on 18th July 2016 and 

ended on 12th September 2016. 1,766 individual responses were 

received from members of the public, developers and statutory 

consultees.  

 

10. After the Preferred Sites Consultation concluded the Ministry of Defence 

(MOD) announced as part of its Defence Estate Strategy on 7th 

November 2016 the release of three substantial sites in York: 

 Imphal Barracks, Fulford Road; 

 Queen Elizabeth Barracks, Strensall; and  

 Towthorpe Lines, Strensall.  

 

Initial technical work was carried out which established that the sites 

represented ‘reasonable alternatives’ and, therefore, should be 

considered as part of the Local Plan process.  

 

11. On 7th December 2016 Executive considered updates on the Local Plan 

following the PSC, the changes in sub-national household projections 

(July 2016) and the MOD announcement (November 2016) in relation to 

land release. Executive recognised the significance of the MOD 

announcement and determined that the Local Plan work programme 

should be extended to allow further technical site work to be undertaken, 

Page 6



 
 

 
 

 

12. On 13th July 2017 the Executive considered a report on the Local Plan 

which provided an update to Members on the work undertaken on: 

 

 The MOD sites highlighted in previous reports to LPWG and 

Executive; 

 Seek the views of Members on the updated evidence in relation to 

future housing and employment growth (SHMA and ELR) 

 Seek the views of Members on the most appropriate way of 

accommodating this future growth including the consideration of 

strategic and non-strategic sites 

 To ask for Members approval of non-housing and employment 

policies; and 

 To request the approval of members for officers to produce a draft 

plan based on the recommendations of the Executive for the 

purposes of Regulation 18 Pre-Publication Draft consultation. 

 

13. On 13th July 2017 the Executive considered issues relating to future 

housing and employment provision in the emerging Local Plan and the 

balance with other objectives in relation to the special character and 

setting of York. The Executive agreed that a composite draft Plan based 

on the recommendations of the Executive in relation to housing and 

employment growth and the portfolio of sites to meet that growth should 

be produced and consulted upon 

 

14. A city-wide consultation on the Local Plan Pre-Publication Draft 

(Regulation 18) commenced on the 18th September 2017 and finished 

on 30th October 2017. It was carried out in compliance with the 

Council’s adopted Statement of Community Involvement (2007). 

Responses from circa 1295 individuals, organisations and interest 

groups were received during the consultation.  

 

15. At Executive on the 25th January 2018 Members approved the Local 

Plan Publication Draft for the statutory Regulation 19 consultation prior 

to its submission to the Secretary of State for the purposes of 

examination.  

 

Page 7



 
 

 
 

16. The report to Members presented a summary of consultation responses 

received on the Pre-Publication Draft Plan along with officer 

recommendations relating to site boundaries and quantums. Members 

resolved to accept changes detailed in tables 1 and 5 of the report which 

increased the number of dwellings on the York Central site to a minimum 

of 1700 dwellings and the commercial floorspace to 100,000 sqm, along 

with a small reduction in the Queen Elizabeth Barracks site to 500 

dwellings to reflect the emerging Habitat Regulations Assessment. 

Overall these changes made a modest increase in housing provision in 

the plan. 

 

17. The Regulations required the Publication Draft to be made available for 

at least a six-week consultation period, and any representations made 

must be taken into consideration by Full Council when determining 

whether the Publication Draft should be submitted to the Secretary of 

State for examination in public under Section 20 of the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended).   

 
18. The Regulation 19 consultation commenced on the 21st February 2018 

and finished on the 4th April 2018. The consultation included contacting 

individuals and organisations on the Local Plan database, a city wide 

leaflet detailing how to respond to the consultation and information 

provided via conventional and social media. In line with the Regulations 

a statement of the consultation procedure was also released. 

 
19. The Regulation 19 consultation on the Publication Draft Local Plan is 

different to those consultations undertaken during the earlier draft 

(Regulation 18) stages. The crucial aspect is that representations 

received at this stage are not considered by officers or the Council with a 

view to producing a further Publication Draft Plan, but instead the 

Council should decide whether the Plan is ready to proceed to 

examination, where those representations are considered by an 

independent Inspector. This means that it is not a completely open-

ended consultation process but rather an objector must state why the 

plan is ‘unsound’ and what needs to be done to address the matter. 

 

Page 8



 
 

 
 

20. Objections must be based on legal compliance, duty to co-operate 

and/or one of the ‘tests of soundness’ as set down in legislation. Those 

‘tests’, as set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), are 

whether the plan is:  

 

 Positively prepared – the plan should be prepared based on a 

strategy which seeks to meet objectively assessed development 

and infrastructure requirements, including unmet requirements 

from neighbouring authorities where it is reasonable to do so and 

consistent with achieving sustainable development; 

 Justified – the plan should be the most appropriate strategy, when 

considered against the reasonable alternatives, based on 

proportionate evidence base; 

 Effective – the plan should be deliverable over its period and 

based on effective joint working on cross boundary strategic 

priorities; and 

 Consistent with national policy – the plan should enable the 

delivery of sustainable development in accordance with the 

policies in the NPPF. 

 

21. Legislation requires at this stage that all consultation responses received 

during this consultation are logged and submitted to the Secretary of 

State, alongside a summary of the main issues raised and the 

Submission Plan, Policies map and associated background supporting 

documentation. The Inspector will use this summary to help steer early 

discussions during the Examination. 

 

22. An examination in public is the final stage in the process of producing a 

Local Plan prior to adoption. This report seeks authority for the 

Submission draft Local Plan document to be submitted to the Secretary 

of State and to allow for any non-substantive editorial changes to be 

made prior to submission. The report also seeks delegated powers for 

the Director of Economy and Place in consultation with the Leader and 

the Executive Member for Economic Development and Community 

Page 9



 
 

 
 

Engagement the ability to agree any further or revised responses or 

proposed changes during the examination period. 

 

23. Throughout the examination process there will be times when the 

Inspector will indicate that he/she is considering recommending a 

particular modification and will normally ask officers whether it could 

offer a set of suggested wording to meet the concern. As such, 

Executive needs to recommend to Council to delegate authority to the 

Director of Economy and Place in consultation with the Leader and the 

Executive Member for Economic Development and Community 

Engagement to ‘negotiate’ such possible modifications with the Inspector 

during the examination process, to enable the smooth running of the 

examination.  

 

24. If approved by Council for submission to the Secretary of State the Plan 

and the supporting documents would be submitted to the Planning 

Inspectorate by 31st May 2018. Following submission, it is anticipated 

that an Inspector would be appointed by early June and would 

commence an early appraisal of the Plan. It is estimated that the 

examination would commence in early September. The diagram below 

sets out the Local Plan Regulations along with the key stages and dates. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Local Plan 

Regulations 

2012 

 

Dev 

Local Plan Making 

Stage 

 

Dev 

CYC Preparation 

 

Regulation 18  

 

 Public consultation on vision and 
priorities, growth options and 
emerging policies 

 Public consultation on the draft 
Local Plan and consideration of 
responses 

Regulation 19 Formal Publication consultation 

on the Local Plan  

[6 weeks consultation]  

 Preferred Options Consultation (July - Aug 2013) 

 Further Sites Consultation (July - Aug 2014) 

 Preferred Sites Consultation (July –Sept 2016) 

 Pre Publication consultation (18th Sept - 30th Oct 

2017) [Exec approval – 25th July 2017] 

 

 Publication Consultation (21st February – 4th April 

2018) 

[Exec approval 25th January 2018] 

 Formal consideration of responses 

 

Page 10



 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
National Policy Context 

 
25. On 16th November 2017 the Secretary of State for Communities and 

Local Government wrote to the Council. The letter emphasised the 

importance of up-to date local plans. He then expressed concern about 

the lack of progress City of York has made on plan-making. The last 

adopted detailed plan for the city was produced in 1956.  

 

26. The Council responded to the Secretary of State in January 2018 

emphasising the importance of responding through the Local Plan 

process to the release of the MOD sites in November 2016 and including 

a commitment to submit at the end of May 2018. 

 

27. On 23rd March 2018 the Secretary of State for Communities and Local 

Government wrote to the Council. The letter notes the progress made 

Likely 11-14 weeks post submission. 

 Pre-hearing matters (questions) – Mid July 2018  

 Hearings – early September to October 2018 

 

Regulation 23 

and 24  

Examination on the submitted 

plan by an appointed 

Independent Planning Inspector 

Regulation 25 

and 26 

Adoption of the Local Plan 

 

 Receipt of report detailing whether the Plan is 

‘Sound’ from Planning Inspector. 

 Potential for a Main Modifications consultation (6 

week consultation minimum) 

 Adoption of the Plan subject to above. 

 

Regulation 22 Submission of the Local Plan to 

the Secretary of State 

 Local Plan Working Group – 2nd May 2018 

 Executive – 8th May 2018 

 Full Council – 17th May 2018 

 Submission of the Plan – 31st May 2018 

Page 11



 
 

 
 

since November 2017 and advises that the Council needs to continue to 

meet the published timetable (the Local Development Scheme) and that 

it will continue to monitor progress closely. The published timetable 

(LDS) requires submission of the Local Plan by 31st May 2018. 

 

28. The Secretary of State’s (SoS) Written Ministerial Statement (WMS) of 

26th March 2018 reinforces the commitment to a plan led system and 

makes it clear that up to date plans are essential because they provide 

clarity to communities and developers about where homes should be 

built and where not so that development is planned rather than the result 

of speculative applications. The statement makes it clear that the SoS 

will closely monitor and consider the case for intervention for those 

authorities who are not making sufficient progress on their plan-making 

and fail to publish a plan for consultation, submit a plan for examination 

or keep policies up to date.  

 

29. The WMS also confirmed a step up in the intervention process for three 

local planning authorities (Castle Point, Thanet and Wirral) due to 

consistent failure and lack of progress to get a plan in place. A team of 

planning experts led by the Government’s Chief Planner has been put in 

place to advise on the next steps in regards to intervention. 

 

30. If the Council does not meet the published timetable for submission by 

31st May 2018 there remains a substantial risk of direct interventions by 

Government into the City’s Local Plan making with the consequential 

inability to steer, promote or restrict development across its 

administrative area in accordance with its Local Development Scheme.  

 

31. The Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government (MCLG) 

published the Draft revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

on 5th March 2018 for consultation until 10th May 2018. The draft revised 

NPPF incorporates policy proposals previously consulted on in the 

Housing White Paper (February 2017) and the Planning for the right 

homes in the right places consultation (September 2017) including the 

housing delivery test and the introduction of a standard methodology for 

calculation housing need. The standard methodology is unchanged from 

Page 12



 
 

 
 

proposals published in September 2017 and reported to Members in the 

January 2018 report to Executive.  

 

32. The current expectation is for the Government to publish the final 

revised NPPF in Summer 2018. The transition period for plan-making 

would be for 6 months following publication.  

 

Local Plan Submission Draft 

 
33. This report and the annexes contain information that Members need to 

consider when determining whether the Plan should be submitted for 
Examination in Public. They are available from the author of the report 
and on-line. The report then briefly highlights relevant information for 
Members in the order of the annexes listed below.  

 

 Annex A: Local Plan Publication Draft (available online); 

 Annex B: the Policies Map (available online); 

 Annex C: Draft Consultation Statement; 

 Annex D: Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental 
Assessment Addendum; 

 Annex E: Habitat Regulations Assessment  

 Annex F: Duty to Co-operate Statement 

 Annex G: Proposed minor modifications to the Local Plan Publication 
Draft 

 Annex H: Equalities Impact Assessment incorporating Better 
Decision Making Tool; and  

 Annex I: Local Development Scheme (2017). 
 

34. Subsequent to consultation on the Publication Draft (Regulation 19), 
some supporting documents have been updated and are available on 
request as background papers, as identified at the end of this report.  
 

The Proposed Submission Local Plan (Annex A) and Policies Map 

(Annex B) 

 

35. The proposed Submission Local Plan (currently known as the 

Publication Draft Local Plan) is the culmination of a lot of hard work 

including the consideration of a comprehensive evidence base and 

many thousands of representations from the public. Those 

Page 13



 
 

 
 

representations have been important in shaping the Plan presented. In 

summary the key themes of the Plan are: 

Vision 

36. The Local Plan’s Vision and outcomes respond to the planning issues, 

challenges and opportunities facing York, and public consultation. The 

Vision and outcomes are described in terms of the following 

interconnected priorities: 

 Create a prosperous city for all; 

 Provide good quality homes and opportunities; 

 Protect the environment; and 

 Ensure efficient and affordable transport links. 
 

37. The Local Plan aims to deliver sustainable patterns and forms of 

development to support the city’s ambition to be a city whose special 

qualities and distinctiveness are recognised worldwide. The Local Plan 

aims to support this ambition by ensuring that the city’s placemaking and 

spatial planning policies reflect its heritage and contemporary culture, 

contributing to the economic and social welfare of the community whilst 

conserving and enhancing its unique historic, cultural and natural 

environmental assets. The sections of the Local Plan support the 

delivery of these high level objectives whilst the spatial strategy 

responds to all of the main objectives. 

Spatial Strategy 

38. The Spatial Strategy is driven by the need to achieve economic and 

housing growth whilst identifying the key principles that will shape the 

future development of the city. In summary these include the following: 

 Conserving and enhancing York’s historic and natural environment. 
This includes the city’s character and setting and internationally, 
nationally and locally significant nature conservation sites, green 
corridors and areas with an important recreation function.  

 Ensuring accessibility to sustainable modes of transport and a range 
of services. 

 Preventing unacceptable levels of congestion, pollution and/or poor 
air quality. 

 Ensuring flood risk is appropriately managed. 

Page 14



 
 

 
 

 Where available and viable, the re-use of previously developed land 
will be encouraged.  
 

39. In addition deliverability is a key consideration and an appraisal of 

potential development sites has been undertaken to establish realistic 

assumptions about the availability, suitability and economic viability of 

land to accommodate future development.   

 

40. The Spatial Strategy includes policies on: the role of the Green Belt; 

York City Centre and bespoke policies for all of the strategic housing 

and employment sites in the Plan.   

 

41. The Spatial Strategy also introduces the overall levels of employment 

and housing growth. It indicates that development during the plan period 

will be consistent with the priorities below: 

 The provision of sufficient land to accommodate around 650 new 
jobs per annum new jobs that will support sustainable economic 
growth, improve prosperity and ensure that York fulfils its role as a 
key economic driver within both the Leeds City Region and the York, 
North Yorkshire and East Riding Local Enterprise Partnership area; 
 

 Deliver in excess of 20,000 market and affordable homes across the 
city to enable the building of strong, sustainable communities through 
addressing the housing and community needs of York’s current and 
future population. This equates to 923 dwellings per annum based on 
a minimum annual provision of 867 new dwellings over the plan 
period to 2032/33 and the post plan period to 2037/38, inclusive of 
the backlog to 2012.  
  

 
Provision of good quality homes and opportunities 

 
42. Section 4 ‘Economy and Retail’ of the plan identifies sufficient 

Employment Sites to meet the requirement set out in the spatial 
strategy.  
 

43. Section 5’Housing’ provides sufficient housing sites to meet the 
requirements set out above including provision for gypsy and travellers 
and travelling showpeople, older persons accommodation and specialist 
housing along with the provision of affordable homes.  It is anticipated 

Page 15



 
 

 
 

that policies in this section will help to deliver approximately 4,000 
affordable homes over the plan period. 
 

44. Section 6 ‘Health and Wellbeing’ sets out policies to protect existing and 

provide for new community facilities including the provision of built sports 

facilities, childcare provision and the provision of health care services. 

Section 7 ‘Education’ sets out policies relating to the University of York, 

York St John University, York College and Askham Bryan College and 

Pre-school, Primary and Secondary education. 

Protect the environment 
 

45. The Plan includes policies to protect and enhance York’s heritage and 

culture and to ensure that new development is of the highest quality 

standards in urban design and public realm. The Green Infrastructure 

chapter recognises the need to protect and enhance York’s biodiversity, 

open space and green corridors whilst promoting accessibility to 

encourage opportunities for sport and recreation and restore and 

recreate sites of priority species and habitats. The Plan will protect and 

preserve York’s setting and special character by ensuring that 

inappropriate development is not permitted in the Green Belt. 

 

46. The Plan seeks to safeguard the city’s natural resources and ensure 

environmental protection. Flood risk will be reduced by ensuring that 

new development is not subject to flooding and where possible 

contributes to its reduction through sustainable urban drainage 

schemes. The climate change chapter will ensure that development 

generates renewable/low carbon energy, uses natural resources 

prudently and is built to high standards of sustainable design and 

construction. The policies are central to fulfilling the aspirations of One 

Planet Council in relation to environmental sustainability.  

 

47. The importance of reducing waste levels through the reducing, reusing 

and recycling hierarchy, and identifying the general provision of 

appropriate sites for waste provision is addressed in the Local Plan. The 

need to safeguard natural mineral resources and maximise the 

production and use of secondary aggregates is also addressed.   

 

Page 16



 
 

 
 

Ensure efficient and affordable transport links 

 

48. The Plan promotes sustainable transport as a means of achieving 

sustainable development and includes public transport, walking and 

cycling improvements. Nevertheless, it also recognises from evidence 

gathered there is a need for significant investment in transport 

infrastructure to deliver the growth ambition for the City. 

 

Local Plan Publication Draft Consultation Statement – Annex C 

 

49. During the Regulation 19 consultation period we have received 

responses from circa 850 individuals, organisation or interest groups, 

this equates to approximately 5,000 separate comments. Full copies of 

all comments made will be submitted to the Planning Inspectorate for 

examination and will be made available on line on submission of the 

Plan. 

 

50. A draft consultation statement produced under Regulation 22 of planning 

legislation is provided at Annex C to this report which includes officer 

summaries of all comments received, set out in Plan order.  

 

51. A short summary of the main issues, by Plan theme, raised at 

Regulation 19 is set out below.   

 

General, Background, Vision and Development Principles 

 

 A number of comments state that the plan is not considered sound or 

legally compliant as it does not comply with elements of the NPPF, 

particularly in regard to the approach to the green belt.  (See ‘Spatial 

Strategy’ below for further detail). 

 Those who consider the Plan sound offer additional points of 

clarification, particularly regarding aspects of policies relating to 

strategic sites.  This includes: 

o Ryedale District Council 

o Selby District Council, noting that both authorities are 

committed to meeting their objectively assessed housing 

need; 

Page 17



 
 

 
 

o Hambleton District Council; 

o York, North Yorkshire and East Riding LEP, which considers 

the plan to be both legally compliant and sound, noting the 

imperative to move to adoption quickly to allow housing and 

employment targets to be delivered; 

o Historic England support the approach to managing growth 

which limits impact on the special character and setting of 

the City (note, EH raise several soundness issues re 

individual strategic sites); 

o Huntington Parish Council 

o Earswick Parish Council 

o Strensall with Towthorpe Parish Council 

o Internal Drainage Board (noting specific issues regarding 

surface water drainage) 

 Both Harrogate Borough Council and North Yorkshire County Council 

highlight the need for York’s Plan to set an enduring green belt 

boundary and meet its full OAHN. NYCC further comments on need 

for the Plan’s Mineral and Waste policies to reflect the North 

Yorkshire and York Minerals and Waste Joint Plan. 

 

Spatial Strategy including Strategic Sites 

 

 Many residents support the principle of a Plan establishing a 

permanent Green Belt boundary and the approach taken in removing 

identified areas of safeguarded land from the Plan.  Planning agents 

and developers argue that the boundary is too tightly drawn and will 

not endure beyond the plan period, ie not provide permanence.  They 

further comment that the Plan is overly reliant on development from a 

few strategic sites (notably York Central) which may not deliver as 

anticipated. 

 Responses from planning/property agents tend to raise objection to 

the Plan’s annual housing target of 867 units, which reflects neither 

the SHMA evidenced by independently appointed consultants nor the 

emerging DCLG methodology.  Many believe the Plan to be unsound 

on this basis.   

 The majority of the developers and landowners with interests in the 

strategic sites support the allocations in principle. However, several 

Page 18



 
 

 
 

request amended boundaries and/or an increase in yield for their 

sites including ST4, ST7, ST8, ST14, ST15, ST16, and ST31. 

 While supporting the general principle of a development strategy 

which limits peripheral growth to safeguard key elements of the City’s 

special character, Historic England raise concerns regarding the 

impact of specific strategic sites (including York Central and 

University of York expansion) on the historic character and setting of 

the City.  Several other respondents question the soundness of 

including specific sites, the details of which are set out in Annex 22.  

This includes Osbaldwick Parish Council, Wheldrake Parish Council, 

Haxby Town Council, Fulford Parish Council, Elvington Parish 

Council, Heslington Parish Council, Upper and Nether Poppleton 

Parish Councils   

 East Riding of Yorkshire Council question whether the scale of ST15 

is sufficient to deliver necessary supporting infrastructure.  On the 

whole, responses received from local residents in relation to strategic 

sites tend to raise soundness concerns relating to reasons of impact 

on surrounding roads, drainage, wildlife, schools and other 

infrastructure. 

 Natural England identified concerns including the need for a final 

HRA, along with potential impacts on Strensall Common SAC and in 

relation to ST15. 

 

Economy and Retail 

 Most objections deem the amount of land allocated for employment 

use inadequate as it does not match the City’s ambitions for 

economic growth, particularly in B1a terms. 

 Concern that reliance on few large sites does not provide a variety of 

choice and or the allocated land will not provide sufficient 

employment for new residents over the course of the plan. 

 

Housing including Housing Allocations 

 Some alternative sites have been submitted and will be presented to 

the Inspector for consideration; 

 Support for the overall soundness of the policy.  Those opposing the 

general thrust of policy raise the following issues: 

o non-conformity with NPPF para 182; 

Page 19



 
 

 
 

o the Plan is not able to demonstrate a 5-year supply upon adoption; 

o the methodology behind site selection is not sufficiently detailed; 

o the inclusion of off campus student housing commitments and 

completions is inappropriate in determining housing supply; 

o noting the above, that the inclusion of windfalls is not a plan led 

approach and could create uncertainty leading to under-delivery. 

 

 Some respondents question how the proposed densities have been 

calculated. It is argued that high densities will result in flatted 

development which is not needed in York. 

 Whilst some respondents support the flexibility provided in relation to 

housing mix, other suggest that greater flexibility is required on a site-

by-site basis. 

 Whilst many local communities support the approach to Gyspy and 

Traveller provision, some are concerned that the proposed policies 

fail to satisfy national policy in terms of deliverability through strategic 

sites and will therefore not fully meet the needs of the travelling 

community.  

 Developers ask that clarification should be provided as to how the 

demand for gypsy and traveller pitches within new housing 

developments has been assessed.  York Travellers Trust consider 

the Plan neither legally compliant nor sound in underestimating G+T 

need, and that it fails its duties under the 2010 Equality Act by not 

allocating sites. 

 Respondents ask that the policies for student accommodation and 

HMOs are strengthened 

 

Site comments: 

 Generally, developers and landowners support the allocation of their 

sites in principle, although amended boundaries and/or yields and 

increased flexibility are suggested for H31, and H59.  

 Some local residents wish to see lower densities on sites to reduce 

their impact on infrastructure and existing residents. 

 

 

 

 

Page 20



 
 

 
 

Health and Wellbeing 

 The majority of respondents make reference to the fact that the issue 

of the retention and re-use of existing community assets is of the 

upmost importance in the delivery of the plan and that a 

strengthening of policy in respect of evidence underpinning their use 

or re-use is required. 

 Several respondents feel that further clarification on the level of 

developer contribution required is needed. 

 

Education 

 Support for the Plan’s recognition of the role of the city’s Universities 

in delivering economic growth.  Some concern that the Plan does not 

provide sufficient land for the University of York to grow. 

 Some respondents feel that any proposals for development at the 

University of York should mitigate the effects of housing, traffic and 

parking to lessen the impact on local communities  

 

Placemaking, Heritage, Design and Culture 

 In general these policies are supported by respondents. 

 Some developers feel that there is too much emphasis on developer 

contributions and that the responsibility for placemaking and culture 

lies with the Council. 

 

Green Infrastructure 

 Several developers feel that further detail and clarification on the 

level of developer contribution is required. 

 Many responses related directly to the provision of new open space 

sites OS1-OS12 which are generally supported by local residents  

 

Managing Appropriate Development in the Green Belt 

 Whilst the Green Belt policies are generally supported, some 

respondents feel that they are overly restrictive and offer little 

opportunity for rural businesses.   

 

Climate Change 

 Some developers argue that energy requirements for new housing 

developments are solely the remit of Building Regulations and the 

Page 21



 
 

 
 

Plan should not be imposing more onerous requirements on 

developments.  In particular, several state that the requirements to 

achieve BREEAM ‘excellent’ rating is unduly restrictive and may 

render schemes unviable. 

 

Environmental Quality and Flood Risk 

 Some respondents consider that these policies are not strong enough 

in relation to air quality, flooding and drainage. 

 Some developers state that further detail and clarification is required 

on the extent of developer contribution. 

 

Waste and Minerals 

 Detailed minerals and waste policies are contained in the Minerals 

and Waste Joint Plan (MWJP). Any policies in the York Local Plan 

must ensure that they are consistent with  strategic polices in the 

MWJP. 

 

Transport and Communications 

 Some respondents consider that the current upgrades to the A1237 

outer ring road are inadequate and that the road needs to be duelled 

 It was highlighted that the connectivity and capacity of the current 

cycle and pedestrian networks need to be addressed  

 Comments about communications infrastructure refer to new 

development schemes needing to be future proofed to facilitate the 

provision of mobile, broadband and wireless communications 

infrastructure, including in the public realm and within private 

buildings. 

 Overall, several respondents request further detail on policy 

implementation and required developer contributions. 

 

Sustainability Appraisal (Annex D) 
 

52. When producing Local Plans, authorities are required under law to 

consider the impacts their proposals are likely to have on sustainable 

development. The Local Plan has been subject to ongoing Sustainability 

Appraisal also incorporating the legal requirements of Strategic 

Page 22



 
 

 
 

Environmental Assessment (SA/SEA) as required by the SEA Directive 

(Directive 2001/42/EC). The iterative process of SA/SEA has helped to 

inform the development of plan up to the Regulation 19 Publication 

stage.  

 

53. SA/SEA is a means of ensuring that the likely social, economic and 

environmental effects of the Local Plan are identified, described and 

appraised to identify how they support the Council’s sustainable 

development objectives. This is achieved using a framework of 

objectives against which all policies and sites are appraised for their 

effects over time and their significance. In addition, the SA/SEA 

considers all reasonable policy and site alternatives to help understand 

the relative difference between options.  

 

54. An SA/SEA of the Publication draft Local Plan was published at the 

Regulation 19 stage. Key results of this appraisal indicate: 

 The Local Plan vision is compatible with the sustainability 

objectives although there is some room for uncertainty in relation 

to conflicts between growth, resources and environmental factors.  

 The key development principles were found to have a positive 

effect on all SA objectives. 

 The preferred housing and employment growth options have a 

positive effect in the short to medium term. In the longer term, 

housing growth is given a more negative score as the preferred 

housing figure meets the CLG baseline rather than the alternative 

SHMA OAHN.  

 Strategic and general site allocations have a positive impact on 

social and economic objectives. This in some cases is balanced 

against potential negative impacts in relation to some 

environmental factors. 

 Policies in the plan will cumulatively have a positive effect on the 

SA objectives. Where negative effects have been identified, 

suitable mitigation have been proposed cross referencing to other 

policies in the plan. 

 

55. An SA Addendum prepared for Submission considers the outcome of 

the Habitat Regulation Assessment Report (2018). Updates to the 

Page 23



 
 

 
 

baseline information, site and policy appraisals are referenced to 

address air quality and recreational pressure issues and effects on 

migrant species raised and mitigated. Appraisal of the policy 

modifications show that the impacts are likely to not significantly affect 

the appraisal outcomes set out in the SA Report published alongside the 

Regulation 19 Consultation. The updated SA does not have any material 

affect on the Publication Draft of the Plan and has no significant effect 

the previous assessment undertaken. 

 

Habitat Regulation Assessment (HRA) – Annex E 

 

56. Habitat Regulation Assessments (HRA) is a requirement of the 

Conservation and Habitats and Species Regulations (2010, amended 

2011) (“HRA Regs”). This requires that an assessment of the impacts of 

the Local Plan on sites designated under the EU Directive (92/431/EEC 

Habitats Directive) must be undertaken. For York, this requires 

assessment of ‘likely significant effects’ on Strensall Common Special 

Area of Conservation (SAC) and the Lower Derwent Valley Special 

Protection Area (SPA/ RAMSAR) as well as 4 sites within 15km of the 

authority boundary.  

 

57. The HRA has been an iterative process throughout Plan production with 

the release of an HRA Screening Assessment (2017) for the Regulation 

18 consultation concluding further work was required in relation to 

Strensall Common SAC and the Lower Derwent Valley (SPA). Through 

the consultation Natural England required further work to consider the 

impact of air quality on designated sites, which has been carried out.  

 

58. Annex E to this report presents the final Habitat Regulation Assessment 

(2018) of the Publication draft Local Plan. This report considers the 

further air quality work and the policies included in the Plan and has 

sought to add.  It concludes that the vast majority of policies can be 

screened out from further consideration but as regards those which are 

screened in, no adverse effects on the integrity of any European site 

would arise on the precautionary approach. Discussions will continue to 

take place with Natural England, however the updated HRA does not 

Page 24



 
 

 
 

reach any conclusions which undermine the allocations as proposed in 

the Publication Draft Plan.  

 

Duty to Co-operate – Annex F 
 
59. The Localism Act 2011 introduced the Duty to co-operate (the Duty) that 

requires local planning authorities and other prescribed bodies to 

‘engage constructively, actively and on an on-going basis’ to maximise 

the effectiveness of local plan preparation in relation to strategic matters. 

The duty is now incorporated into the Planning and Compulsory 

Purchase Act 2004. 

 

60. The examination of a local plan includes consideration of whether the 

Duty has been complied with.  National Planning Practice Guidance 

makes it clear that the Duty tis not a duty to agree. But local planning 

authorities should make every effort to secure cooperation on strategic 

matters before Local Plans are submitted for examination. At 

examination Inspectors will assess the outcomes of cooperation and not 

just whether authorities have approached others. Failure to demonstrate 

compliance with the duty at the examination cannot be corrected after 

the local plan has been submitted for examination. 

 

61. As it has developed the Local Plan has been subject to on-going and 

constructive engagement with neighbouring authorities and relevant 

organisations. This has included: 

 

 the preparation and updating of a Duty to Cooperate Matrix (that 

has been generally circulated to the officer level groups for 

subsequent discussion and comment); 

 regular one-to-one officer meetings; 

 making representations, as appropriate, to other authorities Local 

Plan documents, and vice versa; and 

 regular technical discussions at sub-regional Member and officer 

groups. 

 

62. Through the meetings highlighted Officers have sought to gauge the 

appetite of neighbouring authorities for a sub-regional approach to 

Page 25



 
 

 
 

delivering housing within the context of the Duty to Cooperate. Whilst 

this was not supported for the current round of Local Plans there may be 

some support to consider this in the future. 

 

63. The Duty requires active and constructive ongoing engagement which is 

expected to continue up to the point of submission. Details on how the 

Council has fulfilled the requirements under the Duty were included in 

the ‘Demonstrating the Duty to co-operate (Interim Statement), 

September 2017’ published to support the Regulation 18 Pre-Publication 

Draft Consultation. 

 

64. Both the Leeds City Region Planning Portfolios Board and the North 

Yorkshire and York Spatial Planning and Transport Board (SP&T Board) 

endorsed the approach taken by City of York Council in meeting the 

requirements of the Duty to co-operate in the plan making process. 

 

65. The City of York Duty to co-operate Statement (Annex F) has been 

updated since previous consultation to reflect the process of continuous 

engagement. This statement contains the two regional bodies 

endorsement of the approach taken by City of York Council.  

 Proposed Minor Modifications to the Publication Draft Local Plan – 
Annex G 

 
66. A list of proposed minor modifications is contained in Annex G. These 

are recommendations of a minor nature that, whilst not going to 

soundness, will improve the clarity and usability of the Plan. These 

modifications on the whole reflect the outcomes of the Habitat 

Regulations Assessment and add additional clarity to the mitigation 

measures already included in the Publication Draft Plan.  These 

recommendations, if approved by Executive, will also be put before the 

Inspector for information as part of the submission documents. 

 

Equalities Impact Assessment (incorporating Better Decision 

Making Tool) – Annex H 

 

67. Officers have produced an equalities assessment to accompany each 

stage of the Local Plan called the ‘Better Decision Making Tool’ (BDMT). 

Page 26



 
 

 
 

The BDMT helps the Council to consider the impact of proposals on 

social, economic and environmental sustainability, and equalities and 

human rights. The tool draws upon the priorities set out in the Council 

Plan and will help to provide inclusive and discrimination-free services. 

The purpose of this tool is to ensure that the impacts of every proposal 

are carefully considered and balanced and that decisions are based on 

evidence. Annex H to this report details the Equalities Impact 

Assessment incorporating BDMT for the Publication Draft Plan and the 

annexes to the EIA include the BDMT completed for Regulation 18 (As 

reported to the Executive on January 13th July 2017), Regulation 19 

consultation (Reported to Executive on 25th January) and for this report 

on the Local Plan submission. 

 

Options 

The options for Council are: 

(i) To approve the recommendation from Executive to submit the plan 
to the Secretary of State for Examination, or not 

(ii) To not accept the decision from Executive to submit the plan to the 
Secretary of State for examination 

(iii) To  amend the recommendation from the Executive in accordance 
with the requirements for submitting amendments in writing, to 
Democratic Services, as set out in the Constitution.  

 

68. Members must only submit a plan for examination which they think is 

ready for examination and if they have complied with any relevant 

requirements contained in the Regulations. The NPPF advises that 

authorities should submit a plan for examination which it considers is 

‘sound’ (see above).  

 
69. Regulation 18 and 19 consultations as required and the form and 

content of the Plan are consistent with Regulations 8 and 9. The 

procedural requirements for submission will be followed if the Executive 

and Council decide to proceed to submission. Members must consider 

whether in light of the consultation responses received through the 

Publication Consultation (Reg 19) and the main issues raised, as 

Page 27



 
 

 
 

summarised in this report that the proposed Publication Draft Local Plan 

meets the above tests and is ‘sound’. This includes the approach to both 

housing and employment need and supply and the issues outlined in the 

July 2017 and January 2018 reports to Executive.  

 

70. Development Plan documents must also be prepared in accordance with 

the Local Development Scheme; and in their preparation the authority 

must comply with the Statement of Community Involvement and comply 

with the Duty to Co-operate. The Duty to Co-operate Statement explains 

the discharge of this duty; and the Council has published and made 

available successive drafts of the Local Plan and background 

documents in association with those drafts. The Submission draft and 

supporting documents will be published and made available and will be 

considered through the examination process.  

 

71. There are other requirements relating to the content of the Plan including 

the need to include policies which are designed to secure that 

development contributes to the adaption and mitigation of climate 

change. The Council must prepare the Plan having regard to national 

policies and guidance, and with the objective of contributing to the 

achievement of sustainable development. The draft plan has been 

prepared on this basis.  

 

72. The Council has a duty to prepare and submit a plan and development 

plan documents must be prepared in accordance with the local 

development scheme. Members need to decide whether, having 

considered the representations made at Regulation 19 stage outlined in 

paragraph 32 of this report, that the Plan as it stands is ready for 

examination; and the NPPF advises that a local planning authority 

should submit a plan for examination which it considers is “sound”.  

73. Having regard to the above background and representations received, it 

is considered that Members are able to conclude that the plan is ready 

for examination and is sound.  

 

74. It is not unusual, however, for modifications to the plan to be 

recommended by an Inspector, or the plan-making authority, in response 

to questions, discussions or potentially new issues and evidence which 

Page 28



 
 

 
 

arise during and as part of the examination process. This risk is 

anticipated by the legislation which, as set out above, enables changes 

to be recommended by the Inspector in order to make the Plan sound 

before the Council finally decides whether to adopt the plan. This is 

reflected in Recommendations (iv) and (v), which seek the appropriate 

authority to deal with proposed changes which may arise during the 

examination process. 

 

75. If it is considered that having taken into consideration the 

representations made the appropriate option is to approve the 

Submission version of the Local Plan (Annex A), the Policies Map 

(Annex B) and the Schedule of minor modifications (Annex G) and allow 

it to be submitted for Examination this would allow the Council to meet 

the required published timetable for submission by 31st May 2018. 

 

Next Steps 

76. If Members approve the attached Local Plan Submission Draft (Annex 

A) and Policies Map (Annex B) the document and supporting evidence 

will be prepared for submission for the public examination before the end 

of May 2018. The timetable highlighted is in conformity with the 

Council’s published Local Development Scheme (LDS). 

 

77. It is a requirement of the examination process to have a Programme 

Officer in place. Whilst appointed and paid for by the Council, the 

officers reports to and acts on behalf of the Inspector. The role is a mix 

of part and full time depending on the tasks set by the Inspector. All 

communication with the Inspector, whether by ourselves or any objector, 

must go through the Programme Officer. No direct communication with 

the Inspector is permitted, except of course during the formal ‘hearing’ 

sessions of the examination, which are chaired by the Inspector. 

 

78. Officers have appointed a Programme Officer to support the examination 

process. The Programme Officer is working, initially on a part-time basis, 

to help process responses to the Publication draft consultation and to 

organise the examination library ready for examination.  

Page 29



 
 

 
 

 
Impacts 
 
79. Financial – The work on the Local Plan is funded from specific budgets 

set aside for that purpose. Over the last four years, significant sums 

have been expended on achieving a robust evidence base, carrying out 

consultations, sustainability and other appraisals, policy development 

and financial analyses. Whilst this work remains of great value it is 

important that progress is made to ensure that unnecessary additional 

costs do not occur.  

 

80. Human Resources (HR) – The production of a Local Plan and 

associated evidence base requires the continued implementation of a 

comprehensive work programme that will predominantly, although not 

exclusively, need to be resourced within EAP. 

 
81. Equalities –  An Equalities Impact Assessment, including the Better 

decision–making tool, is attached as annex H. 

 
82. Legal – The procedures which the Council is required to follow when 

producing a Local Plan derive from the Planning and Compulsory 

Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) and the Town and Country Planning 

(Local Development) (England) Regulations 2012. The Council also has 

other legal duties as set out above, including compliance with the Duty 

to Co-operate. 

 
83. In order for the draft Local Plan to pass the tests of soundness, in 

particular the ‘justified’ and ‘effective’ tests, it is necessary for it to be 

based on an adequate, up to date and relevant evidence base. If the 

draft Local Plan is not prepared in accordance with legal requirements, 

fully justified and supported by evidence, the draft Local Plan is likely to 

be found unsound at examination and would not be able to proceed to 

adoption, subject to the potential for modifications to be made to ensure 

soundness under section 20 of the 2004 Act.  

84. As described above, the HRA and SA have been updated since the 

Regulation 19 consultation, along with other documents. None of the 

Page 30



 
 

 
 

updates materially affect the contents of the Publication Draft Plan or 

significantly affect the previous assessments. These documents will be 

published in association with the submission version of the plan and the 

anticipated timeline for the examination may need to take into account 

any responses to these documents or other new matters arising through 

the examination process.  

  
85. Crime and Disorder – The Plan addresses where applicable. 

 

86. Information Technology (IT) – The Plan promotes where applicable. 

 

87. Property – The Plan includes land within Council ownership. 

 

88. Other – None 

 
Risks 
 
89. The main risks in failing to progress a Local Plan for the City of York in 

compliance with legislation, policy and guidance are as follows: 

 the plan in its current form is found ‘unsound’ at examination or 
other issues are raised which require further work and/or delay to 
the examination; 

 any further delay in the submission of the Plan would exacerbate 
ongoing concerns regarding the ability of the Council to steer, 
promote or restrict development across its administrative area in a 
plan-led planning system according to its Local Development 
Scheme, leading to planning by appeal. 

 
91.  If the approach taken is subsequently judged to be non-compliant with 

legislation or guidance either before or after submission this could lead 
to further technical work and additional consultation adding to the 
identified costs.  
 

Managing the planning process in the absence of a Plan will lead to 
significant costs to the council in managing appeals.  

 
Measured in terms of impact and likelihood, the risks associated with 
this report have been assessed as requiring frequent monitoring. 
 

Page 31



 
 

 
 

Recommendations  
 
Council is asked to consider the following recommendations from the 
Executive:  
 

(i) That Council approve the Submission Draft Local Plan (Publication 

Draft) as attached at Annex A to this report, the Policies Map as 

attached at Annex B to this report and the Schedule of minor 

modifications as attached as Annex G to this report  for submission 

to the Secretary of State for examination. 

Reason: So that an NPPF compliant Local Plan can be progressed 

in accordance with the council’s Local Development 

Scheme. 

(ii) That authority be delegated to the Director of Economy and Place, 

in consultation with the Executive Leader and the Executive 

Member for Economic Development and Community Engagement, 

to make non-substantive editorial changes to the Submission Draft 

and other supporting document submitted alongside the plan. 

Reason: So that an NPPF compliant Local Plan can be progressed. 

(iii) That the Director of Economy and Place be authorised to ask the 

examining Inspector to recommend modifications where necessary 

under Section 20(7C) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 

Act 2004. 

Reason: So that an NPPF compliant Local Plan can be progressed. 

(iv) That the Director of Economy and Place, in consultation with the 

Executive Leader and the Executive Member for Economic 

Development and Community Engagement, be authorised to 

agree any further or revised responses or proposed changes 

during the examination process, prior to consultation and a final 

decision on adoption. 

Reason: So that an NPPF compliant Local Plan can be progressed. 

 

 

Page 32



 
 

 
 

Contact Details 

 

Author: 

 

Chief Officer Responsible for the 

report: 

 

Mike Slater 

Assistant Director of 

Planning and Public 

Protection 

 

Tel (01904) 551300 
 

Neil Ferris 

Director of Economy and Place 

 

 

 

Executive Members Responsible for 

the Report: 

Cllr I Gillies  

 

Report 

Approved 
 

Date 09/05/2018 

    

Specialist Implications Officer(s): 

Finance Manager 

Senior Solicitor, Planning 

 

Wards Affected:  List wards or tick box to indicate all   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 33



 
 

 
 

Annexes (Provided as a separate pack to those Members who have 

not already received those Annexes as Members of LPWG or 

Executive)  

 Annex A: Local Plan Publication Draft (available online) ; 

 Annex B: the Policies Map (available online); 

 Annex C: Draft Consultation Statement; 

 Annex D: Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental 
Assessment Addendum; 

 Annex E: Habitat Regulations Assessment  

 Annex F: Duty to Co-operate Statement 

 Annex G: Proposed minor modifications to the Local Plan Publication 
Draft; 

 Annex H: Better Decision-Making Tool; and  

 Annex I: Local Development Scheme (available online). 
 

 
Background Papers 

 

Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment 

Transport Topic Paper 

Local Plan Viability Assessment  

 

Page 34


	Agenda
	3 City of York Local Plan - Submission

